# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-23-2012

# Farmers Nat. Bank v. Green River Dairy, LLC Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40101

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a declaratory judgment action for judicial determination of the respective interests of the parties in the proceeds from the sale of dairy cows. Farmers National Bank asserts that its perfected security interest created pursuant to Idaho Code §28-9-101, et seq., constitutes a first priority lien on dairy cows and the proceeds from the sale of those dairy cows. Hull Farms, Inc.; Ernest Daniel Carter dba Carter Hay and Livestock ("Dan Carter"); Lewis Becker; Jack McCall; and Tim Thornton (the "Agricultural Commodity Dealers"), assert that their agricultural commodity liens on agricultural products created pursuant to Idaho Code §45-1801, et. seq., extend from the products to the dairy cows that consumed the products and the proceeds from the sale of those dairy cows and have priority over Farmers National Bank's perfected security interest. Farmers National Bank asserts that Idaho Code §45-1801, et seq. does not provide for the extension of agricultural commodity liens on agricultural products to livestock which consume those products or the proceeds from the sale of the livestock.

The dairy cows were owned by Green River Dairy, LLC, and Herculano J. Alves and Frances M. Alves, husband and wife, dba Green River Dairy ("Green River Dairy"). However, the amount claimed by Farmers National Bank and the total amount claimed by the five Agricultural Commodity Dealers exceeds the amount received as proceeds from the sale of the dairy cows, such that the owners of the dairy cows have no claim to the proceeds.

#### COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Farmers National Bank filed a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment (R. Vol. I, pp. 17-34) seeking a judicial determination that its security interest by UCC-1F financing statements filed pursuant to Idaho Code §28-9-101, et. seq., constituted a first priority lien on the dairy cows and the proceeds from the sale of the dairy cows.

Hull Farms, Inc., filed an Answer (R. Vol. I, pp. 35-41) asserting that it had priority to the proceeds pursuant to Idaho Code Section 45-1801, et. seq., and its filing of a Form C-1 Agricultural Products lien.

Tim Thornton filed an Answer (R. Vol. I, pp. 42-46) asserting that he had priority to the proceeds pursuant to Idaho Code Section 45-1801, et. seq., and his filing of a Form C-1 Agricultural Products lien.

Lewis Becker filed an Answer, Counterclaim and Cross-Claim (R. Vol. I, pp. 47-58) asserting that he had priority to the proceeds pursuant to Idaho Code Section 45-1801, et. seq., and his filing of a Form C-1 Agricultural Products lien and seeking a money judgment and lien foreclosure against Green River Dairy.

Green River Dairy filed an Answer (R. Vol. I, pp. 59-61) generally denying that Farmers National Bank was entitled to relief.

Jack McCall filed an Answer, Counterclaim, and Cross-Claims (R. Vol. I, pp. 62-75) asserting that he had priority to the proceeds pursuant to Idaho Code §45-1801, et. seq., and his filing of a Form C-1 Agricultural Products lien and seeking a money judgment and lien foreclosure against Green River Dairy.

Dan Carter filed an Answer, Counterclaim, and Cross-Claims (R. Vol. I, pp. 76-97) asserting that he had priority to the proceeds pursuant to Idaho Code §45-1801, et. seq., and his filing of a Form C-1 Agricultural Products lien and seeking a money judgment and lien foreclosure against Green River Dairy.

Farmers National Bank filed a Reply to Counterclaim of Jack McCall (R. Vol, I, pp. 98-101), a Reply to Counterclaim of Lewis Becker (R. Vol. I, pp. 102-105), and a Reply to Counterclaim of Dan Carter (R. Vol. I, pp. 106-109) denying the entitlement to relief and reasserting its priority claims.

Green River Dairy did not respond to the Cross Claims of Lewis Becker, Jack McCall or Dan Carter.

Farmers National Bank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. Vol. I, pp. 110-113) supported by affidavits and briefing. All other parties with the exception of Green River Dairy filed responsive affidavits and briefing. Lewis Becker filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. Vol. III, pp. 426-429) as did Jack McCall and Dan Carter (R. Vol. III, pp. 477-481). Oral argument was held on April 9, 2012. On May 8, 2012, Judge Bevan entered his Memorandum Decision Re: Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (Augmentation Record pp. 1-13) denying relief to Farmers National Bank and granting summary judgment in favor of Hull Farms, Inc.; Tim Thornton; Lewis Becker; Jack McCall and Dan Carter.

Subsequently, a Judgment (R. Vol. III, pp. 564-569) was entered on May 30, 2012, and an Amended Judgment (R. Vol. III, pp. 580-584) was entered on August 29, 2012.

Farmers National Bank filed an Amended Notice of Appeal (R. Vol. III, pp. 585-589) to that Amended Judgment.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Farmers National Bank believes that the following facts set forth in the Affidavit of Scott Tverdy (R. Vol. I, pp. 130-141) and the Affidavit of John S. Ritchie (R. Vol. I, p. 142-Vol. II, p. 386) are undisputed. Beginning April 25, 2008, Farmers National Bank made ten loans to Green River Dairy, LLC, all of which loans were guaranteed by Herculano J. Alves and Frances M. Alves, husband and wife, and The Mary Rose Haagsma Revocable Living Trust, the members of the LLC (R. Vol. I, p. 132). All of the loan and security documents are attached as Exhibits to the Complaint attached as Exhibit "4" to the Affidavit of John S. Ritchie (R. Vol. I, p. 157-Vol. II, p. 386).

That prior to the formation of Green River Dairy, LLC, on April 8, 2008, Farmers National Bank had made numerous loans to Herculano J. Alves and Frances M. Alves, husband and wife, dba Green River Dairy, which loans were secured by security agreements and a UCC-1F filing covering cattle (R. Vol. I, p. 133). That as additional security for the loans made to Green River Dairy, LLC, Herculano J. Alves and Frances M. Alves, personally guaranteed the loans and granted Famers National Bank a security interest in all cattle owned by them and the UCC-1F previously filed remained of record with the Idaho Secretary of State (R. Vol. I, p. 133).

That the security documents for the ten loans made to Green River Dairy, LLC, included the following:

a. State of Idaho – Farm Products Financing Statement – Form UCC-1F filed with the Idaho Secretary of State on July 14, 2006, Filing Number F75997, and continued on May 27, 2011, Filing Number F47056:

Debtor(s): Herculano Alves, Frances Alves and Green River Dairy Secured Party: Farmers National Bank

Products: Triticale, oats, field corn, hay, ensilage, dairy cattle and milk.

b. State of Idaho – Farm Products Financing Statement – Form UCC-1F filed with the Idaho Secretary of State on May 12, 2008, Filing Number F78573:

Debtor(s): Green River Dairy LLC Secured Party: Farmers National Bank

Products: Rye (including triticale), oats, field corn, hay, ensilage,

dairy cattle and milk.

(R. Vol. I, p. 133; Vol. I, pp. 32-34).

That subsequent thereto the five Agricultural Commodity Dealers delivered agricultural products to Green River Dairy, all of which agricultural products were fed to cattle owned by Green River Dairy. Those parties filed agricultural commodity dealer liens on the products delivered. The respective liens claimed by each of those parties are itemized in Appendix A of this Brief. The total of all filed C-1 lien claims is \$185,404.71.

Green River Dairy defaulted on its obligations to Farmers National Bank and Farmers National Bank took possession of the dairy cattle that were collateral for the ten loans (R. Vol. I, p. 134). The Complaint recites that Farmers National Bank disposed of some of the cattle at auction sale at Producers Livestock Marketing Association in Jerome, Idaho. The proceeds from the sale totaled \$211,957.58 and Producers Livestock issued two checks made

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 5

payable to Green River Dairy c/o Herculano J. Alves and Farmers National Bank and Hull Farms, Inc., and Jack McCall and Dan Carter (R. Vol. I, p. 134).

After the filing of the Complaint, the remainder of the cattle were sold. It was stipulated to by Farmers National Bank at oral argument that the disposition of all of the proceeds received by Farmers National Bank from the sale of cattle with the Green River Dairy brand would be governed by the Court's decision on the motions for summary judgment (Tr. pp. 8-10).

The amount due and owing to Farmers National Bank from Green River Dairy, LLC, which debt was guaranteed by Herculano J. Alves and Frances M. Alves, husband and wife, was \$2,616,008.24 as of February 1, 2012 (R. Vol. I, p. 134).

## ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did Judge Bevan err in interpreting Idaho Code §45-1802 as providing that an agricultural commodity dealer lien on an agricultural product extends to livestock which consume the product and the proceeds of sale of the livestock.
- 2. Did Judge Bevan err in determining that the five Agricultural Commodity Dealers have liens on the proceeds of sale of livestock, which are prior to the perfected security interest of Farmers National Bank in those proceeds.

# ATTORNEYS FEES ON APPEAL

Farmers National Bank claims attorneys fees on appeal pursuant to Idaho Code §§10-1210 and 45-1809.

## **ARGUMENT**

# A. Introduction

The central issue on appeal in this case is one of statutory interpretation. In 1983 the Idaho Legislature enacted a new law which provided for the creation of a lien in favor of producers and dealers in agricultural products. The law was codified as Chapter 18 of Title 45 of the Idaho Code. The liens provided for are designated in the title of Chapter 18 as "Agricultural commodity dealer liens." The kind of lien provided for and the class of persons who may have the lien are generally set forth in Idaho Code §45-1802 which presently and at all times pertinent to this case reads as follows:

**45-1802.** Lien created-Who may have. An agricultural commodity producer or an agricultural commodity dealer who sells, or delivers under contract or bailment, an agricultural product has a lien on the agricultural product or the proceeds of the sale of the agricultural product as provided in section 45-1804, Idaho Code. The lien created in this chapter may attach regardless of whether the purchaser uses the agricultural product purchased to increase the value of his livestock or whether he uses the agricultural product purchased to maintain the value, health or status of his livestock without actually increasing the value of his agricultural product.

The second sentence of this section was added to the first by an amendment to the statute in 1989. This case concerns how the second sentence of this section of the statute should be interpreted. Specifically, the issue is whether by the addition of the second sentence the Idaho Legislature changed the statute to provide that the lien could attach not only to agricultural products and the proceeds of sale of those products, as stated in the first sentence, but also to livestock which consumed those products. The District Court ruled that the second sentence unambiguously extends the lien to livestock. It is the contention of Farmers National Bank that it is a mistake to interpret the second sentence this way, that the 1989 amendment to the statute did not extend the scope of the lien beyond agricultural products and the proceeds of sale of such products, and, therefore, that the liens of the Agricultural Commodity Dealers did not extend to the livestock or proceeds of sale of the livestock which consumed the agricultural products to which their liens had attached

# B. Standard of Review

The standard of review for appeal from an order of summary judgment has been recently summarized by the Idaho Supreme Court as follows:

This Court reviews appeals from an order of summary judgment *de novo*, and the "standard of review is the same as the standard used by the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment." *Curlee v. Kootenai County Fire & Rescue*, 148 ldaho 391, 394, 224 P.3d 458, 461 (2008) (citations omitted). Thus summary judgment is appropriate if "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). Under this standard, "disputed facts are construed in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are drawn in favor of the non-moving party." *Curlee*, 148 Idaho at 394,

224 P.3d at 461. Where "the evidence reveals no disputed issues of material fact, then only a question of law remains, over which this Court exercises free review." Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n, 142 Idaho 790, 793, 134 P.3d 641, 644 (2006). This Court exercises "free review over interpreting a statute's meaning and applying the facts to the law." VFP VC v. Dakota Co., 141 Idaho 326, 331, 109 P.3d 714, 719 (2005).

Stonebrook Construction, LLC v. Chase Home Finance, LLC, 152 Idaho 927, 929, 277 P.3d 374, 376 (2012).

# C. The District Court Erred in Applying the Applicable Rules of Statutory Interpretation

Statutory interpretation begins with the wording of the statute and the threshold issue in statutory interpretation is whether the statute under review is ambiguous or unambiguous:

Interpretation of a statute begins with an examination of the statute's literal words. Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous courts give effect to the statute as written, without engaging in statutory construction. Only where the language is ambiguous will this Court look to rules of construction for guidance and consider the reasonableness of proposed interpretations.

Stonebrook Construction, LLC v. Chase Home Finance, LLC, 152 Idaho 927, 931, 277 P.3d 374, 378 (2012) (citing Curlee v. Kootenai County Fire & Rescue, 148 Idaho 391, 398, 224 P.3d 458, 465 (2008) with internal citations omitted).

In its Memorandum Decision Re: Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (Augmentation Record pp. 1-13), the District Court concluded Idaho Code §45-1802 to be unambiguous and that this section unambiguously means that, in addition to agricultural products and proceeds of sale of those products, agricultural commodity liens may attach to animals which consume those products. However, the District Court's interpretation of the meaning of

the statute rests upon considerations and rules of construction which only should come into play where the statute in question has been first judged to be ambiguous. Therefore, the District Court's analysis in support of its conclusion is fundamentally flawed, leads to an unsupportable interpretation of the statute and should be disregarded.

Relying upon *State v. Yzaguirre*, 144 Idaho 471, 476; 163 P.3d 1183, 1188 (2007), the District Court states " [a statute's] ambiguity is contingent upon whether a number of reasonable interpretations can be made regarding its meaning." (Augmentation Record p. 7). In *Yzaguirre* the Court was confronted with two litigants each of whom asserted that the statute under review was unambiguous, but who each advocated a different interpretation of what the statute meant. The Court concluded that only one of these interpretations was reasonable and that, therefore, the statute was unambiguous. (Augmentation Record p. 7). In this general respect the District Court's analysis in this case mirror's the Supreme Court's analysis in *Yzaguirre*. But a closer reading of *Yzaguirre* reveals a crucial difference.

In *Yzaguirre* the conflicting interpretations had to do with how the grammar of the statute was to be construed. It had nothing to do with which interpretation was "reasonable" from the standpoint of sensible or sound legislation. The parties and the Supreme Court's focus was on determining the plain meaning of the words of the statute. The interpretations of the parties diverged on the question of the import of the placement of a comma in the text of the statute. The Court concluded as a matter of ordinary grammar that only one of the two interpretations advocated was reasonable.

In the case before the Court today, however, the District Court's analysis does not focus on what is reasonable or not so far as discerning the plain meaning of the words of the statute. The District Court looks to which of two proposed interpretations results in a law which, in the Court's view, is reasonable and not absurd in its application. But the reasonableness or absurdity of a law is not a valid consideration when interpreting an unambiguous statute, or deciding whether a statute is ambiguous in the first place. In *Verska v. Saint Alphonsus Regional Medical Center*, 151 Idaho 889, 896, 265 P.3d 502, 509 (2011) the Idaho Supreme Court declined to address the plaintiff's argument that a statute could not be construed as it was plainly written if the statute, so construed, was patently absurd, noting:

Thus, we have never revised or voided an unambiguous statute on the ground that it is patently absurd or would produce absurd results when construed as written, and we do not have the authority to do so.

*Ibid.* at p. 896. Likewise, the fact that the plain meaning of a statute implies harsh results in the statute's application does not allow a court to construe an unambiguous statute to mean something different from what the legislature has said:

However, the "public policy of legislative enactments cannot be questioned by the courts and avoided simply because the courts might not agree with the public policy so announced." *State v. Village of Garden City*, 74 Idaho 513, 525, 265 P. 2d 328, 334 (1953). Therefore, this Court's duty is "to interpret the meaning of legislative enactments without regard to possible results." *Id.* 

...Although the result for Stonebrook is harsh, it is the result the Legislature intended. We are not at liberty to disregard this legislative determination as to the most effective means of protecting the public.

Stonebrook Construction, LLC at pp. 932-933. Therefore, even if the plain meaning of a statute is perceived to produce absurd or harsh results, that does not allow reaching beyond its plain meaning to construe the statute to mean something different from what the words of the statute plainly say.

#### D.

# The District Court erred in concluding that an amendment to a statute must always change preexisting law

The District Court first found the interpretation of Idaho Code §45-802 advocated by Farmer's National Bank to be unreasonable on the basis that if the second sentence does not expand the scope of the lien beyond agricultural products to livestock which consume those products, then the second sentence adds nothing to what the first sentence says and is, therefore, superfluous. Citing the rule of construction that "a court should not interpret a statute in a way that would render it superfluous" the Court found Farmers National Bank's interpretation unreasonable. (Augmentation Record p. 8). However, this rule of construction is properly employed only after the meaning of a statute has been determined to be ambiguous. Because the second sentence of Idaho Code §45-1802 was added as an amendment to a preexisting statute, the more applicable rule of construction is the presumption that an amendment to a statute indicates an intent to change the statue's meaning. *Gonzalez. v. Thacker*, 148 Idaho 879, 883, 231 P. 3d 524, 528 (2009). However, "[T]he presumption does not apply where statute's meaning is not in doubt." *Am Jur 2d, Statutes* §63. Moreover, an amendment to a statute may simply clarify or strengthen a statute without altering or changing it. *Pearl v. Board of* 

Professional Discipline of Idaho State Board of Medicine, 137 Idaho 107, 114, 44 P. 3d 1162, 1169 (2002); Stonecipher v. Stonecipher, 131 Idaho 731, 735, 963 P. 2d 1168, 1172 (1998).

In *Stonecipher*, the amendment in question simply added one sentence to Idaho Code §5-245. The Court noted that the added sentence did not change the statute from what it was before the amendment:

No alteration was made to the statute as it previously existed. The amended version simply clarified the language of the original statute by providing a list, though non-exhaustive, of terms to be encompassed by "an action or proceeding to collect child support arrearages."

*Ibid* at p. 735. Therefore, if the second sentence of Idaho Code §45-1802 is unambiguous as it stands, then there is no basis for applying rules of construction to make the second sentence mean something other than what it plainly says, even though when plainly read the second sentence does not alter or change preexisting law.

Ε.

The District Court also erred reasoning that unless the second sentence extends the scope of the things to which the lien may attach, it is self-contradictory and meaningless.

The District Court also concluded that if the second sentence does not extend the scope of the lien to livestock which consume agricultural products, then the second sentence would not only be superfluous, it would also be "self-contradictory and meaningless." (Augmentation Record p. 9). The District Court reasoned as follows:

However, with such an interpretation, the triggering act of "using the agricultural product to feed livestock simultaneously give the product its clarified classification—agricultural product subject to a lien—and strips it of that lien as it would not extend to the livestock once it is consumed—or "used." Interpreting language such that it both bestows a category and strips it at the same moment renders the sentence self—contradictory and meaningless.

(Augmentation Record p. 9). In a footnote to this passage, the District Court amplifies its point as follows:

The court notes that Farmers' interpretation would be more reasonable if the statute had indicated that the lien attaches regardless of whether the purchaser *intends* to use or *will* use the product in the ways described in the second sentence. However, the statute does not read that way. [Emphasis added]

(Augmentation Record p. 9). However, because the statute states that the lien attaches to a product regardless of the purpose for which the agricultural product is used, does not imply that the lien does not attach to the product *until* the product is used. The sentence is a statement that certain events do not affect whether a lien attaches; it is not a statement about when a lien attaches. In any case, Idaho Code §45-1803 which immediately follows Idaho Code §45-1802 is captioned and sets forth "When lien attaches," which clearly dispels any reason for reading the second sentence of Section 45-1802 as having anything to do with when the lien attaches. Thus plainly read, the second sentence is not self-contradictory and meaningless.

Even if one reaches the District Court's conclusion that the second sentence implies an absurd result unless it is construed to mean that a lien on an agricultural product attaches to livestock which consume the product, such absurdity does not allow a court to depart from the plain meaning of an unambiguous sentence. As the Idaho Supreme Court has stated in *Verska*, if a court finds that the plain unambiguous meaning of a statute is "patently absurd," it is not the role of the Court to rewrite the statute. But this is just what the District Court did in this case.

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