Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-20-2012

Farmers Nat. Bank v. Green River Dairy, LLC Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 40101

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

ARGUMENT

A.

Introduction

The issue on appeal to this Court is one of statutory interpretation concerning a statute not previously analyzed by this Court. This Court is asked to decide which creditor has priority in proceeds from the sale of livestock between a statutorily created lien in agricultural products and their proceeds or a security lender's UCC-1F lien on livestock.

There is no dispute that both parties followed Idaho law in perfecting their respective security interest. The Agricultural Commodity Dealer claimants (Respondents in this appeal), all followed the letter of the law in properly perfecting their Agricultural Commodity Dealer liens. Similarly, Appellant, Farmer's National Bank, filed UCC-1F Financing Statements on Green River Dairy's livestock. This Court is called upon to interpret the priorities and apparent conflict in these two statutory schemes.

B.

Standard of Review

The Appellant seeks review of an order for summary from the District Court in favor of Respondents. Judge Bevan's ruling in the District Court was based on summary judgment

standards, IRCP 56 and consequently, no factual disputes were considered in his opinion. Judge Bevan's decision is squarely rooted in an analysis of the apparent conflict between a UCC-1 F filing and a statutory lien, namely Idaho Code §45-1802. In such cases, the reviewing court reviews questions of statutory interpretation *de novo*, exercising free review of the issue below. *Gonzalez v. Thacker*, 148 Idaho 879, 881, 231 P.3d 524, 526 (2009). See also, *VFP VC v. Dakota Co.*, supra; *State v. Yzaguirre*, 144 Idaho 471; 163 P.3d 1183 (2007), and *Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Idaho State Tax Commission*, 142 Idaho 790, 793, 134 P.3d 641, 664 (2006).

C.

Statutory Interpretation

The universal axiom in any appellate review of statutory interpretation is to begin with the literal words of the statute and to then apply their plain and ordinary meaning. This Court has previously stated that it:

... interprets statutes according to the plain, express meaning of the provision in question, and we will resort to judicial construction only if the provision is ambiguous, incomplete, absurd, or arguably in conflict with other laws.

Sand Point Independent Highway District v. Board of Commissioners, 138 Idaho 887, 890, 71 P.3d 1034, 1037 (2003); VFP VC v. Dakota Co., 141 Idaho 326, 331, 109 P.3d 714, 719 (2005)

In such cases, the Court prefers the rational, obvious meaning of the statute, preferable to other interpretations which would make portions of the statute void or redundant; *id* at 891; *State v. Yzaguirre*, 144 Idaho 471, 475, 163 P.3d 1183, 1187 (2007); *Verska v. St. Alphonsus Regional Medical Center*, 151 Idaho 889, 893, 265 P.3d. 502, 506 (2011) and *State v. Schwartz*, 139 Idaho

360, 362, 79 P.3d 719, 721 (2003). This Court has repeatedly stated that if a statute is not ambiguous, no further inquiry is necessary:

We have consistently held that where statutory language is unambiguous, legislative history and other extrinsic evidence should not be consulted for the purpose of altering the clearly expressed intent of the legislature.

Verska quoting City of Sun Valley v. Sun Valley Company, 123 Idaho 665, 667, 851 P.2d 961, 963 (1993).

... we have never revised or voided an unambiguous statute on the ground that it is patently absurd or would produce absurd results when construed as written, and we do not have the authority to do so. "The public policy of legislative enactments cannot be questioned by the courts and avoided simply because the courts might not agree with the public policy so announced."

Verska, at 896, 265 P.3d at 509 (quoting State vs. Village of Garden City, 74 Idaho 513, 525, 265 P.2d 328, 334 (1953); See also, Booth v. State, 151 Idaho 612, 262 P.3d 255 (2011).

D.

The District Court Properly Found the Statute as Unambiguous

The focus of the District Court's opinion centered on a review of the Agricultural Commodity Dealer's lien and specifically, Idaho Code §45-1802. That statute provides as follows:

§45-1802. Lien created – Who may have. – An agricultural commodity producer or an agricultural commodity dealer who sells, or delivers under contract or bailment, an agricultural product has a lien on the agricultural product or the proceeds of the sale of the agricultural product as provided in section 45-1804 Idaho Code. The lien created in this chapter may attach regardless of whether the purchaser uses the agricultural product purchased to increase the value of his livestock or whether he uses the agricultural product purchased to maintain the value, health or status of his livestock without actually increasing the value of his agricultural product.

The Court focused its attention on the language of the statute and concluded that the lien on agricultural product and "the proceeds" of the sale of the agricultural product extended to livestock which ingested the agricultural product. The Court further focused its attention on the second sentence of the statute which in its plain and ordinary meaning states that the lien attaches "regardless of whether the purchaser uses the agricultural product purchased to increase the value of his livestock. . . or to maintain the value, health or status of his livestock."

Appellant argues that the District Court's interpretation either is in error or that the statute is indeed ambiguous. The Appellant would have this Court disregard the second sentence of the statute or draw the conclusion that the second sentence requires a change in pre-existing law. The "change" which Appellant and Amicus suggest is that pre-existing perfected security interest in livestock can be trumped by an Agricultural Commodity Dealer's lien since priorities were already dealt with by the legislature.

Taking the language of the statute and applying the literal words does affect a different result. The statute clearly calls for the attachment of an agricultural lien regardless of whether livestock had ingested the feed or increased their value.

The real issue is whether the lien which is described in Idaho Code §45-1802 which includes "proceeds" extends in priority to prior perfected liens. That question is definitively answered in Idaho Code §45-1805.

Idaho Code §45-1805. Priority of Lien - The lien created by section 45-1802, Idaho Code, is preferred to a lien or security interest in favor of a creditor of the purchaser, regardless of whether the creditor's lien or security interest attaches to the agricultural product or proceeds of the sale of the agricultural product before or after the date on which the lien created by section 45-1802, Idaho

Code, attaches.

Idaho Code §45-1805. (Emphasis added).

Again, the plain language of the statute clearly defines that the Agricultural Commodity Dealer lien takes priority over the prior perfected secured lien in the same collateral. Applying the rules of statutory interpretation, the plain language clearly illustrates that the Idaho Legislature intended for the Agricultural Commodity Dealer lien to trump the prior perfected security interest in the same collateral. Any other interpretation is an absurdity which is not supported by a reasonable interpretation of either the first or second sentence of Idaho Code §45-1802 or the clearly defined priority as established in Idaho Code §45-1805.

E.

Priority Between Article 9 Liens and Agricultural Commodity Dealer's Liens

The Amicus Brief filed by the Idaho Dairymen's Association, tries in vain to supplant the priorities established in the Agricultural Commodity Dealer's Act by reference to Article 9 of Idaho's version of the Uniform Commercial Code.

Potential conflicts in security interests was anticipated by the Idaho Legislature and addressed in Idaho' revised version of the Uniform Commercial Code in 2001. Section 28-9-322 addresses the rules governing conflicting priorities with agricultural liens. In short, the Statute provides that in most circumstances, the first to file takes priority in conflicting security interests. However, there is a significant exception found in subsection (g) which provides as follows:

g. A perfected agricultural lien on collateral has priority over a conflicting security interest in or agricultural lien on the same collateral if the statute creating

the agricultural lien so provides.

Idaho Code §28-9-322.

This language cannot be more clear that an Agricultural Commodity Dealer lien which does provide for priority over a prior perfected security interest in Idaho Code §45-1805, trumps a prior perfected lien. That language cannot be more plain, obvious, or unambiguous. However, the comments incorporated at the time the Statute was passed, are particularly revealing. Comment 12 provides in relevant part as follows:

12. Agricultural Liens. Statutes other than this article may purport to grant priority to an agricultural lien as against a conflicting security interest or agricultural lien. Under subsection (g), if another statute grants priority to an agricultural lien, the agricultural lien has priority only if the same statute creates the agricultural lien and the agricultural lien is perfected. . . .

Inasmuch as no agricultural lien on proceeds arises under this Article, subsection (b) through (e) do not apply to proceeds of agricultural liens. However, if an agricultural lien has priority under subsection (g) and the statute creating the agricultural lien gives the secured party a lien on proceeds of the collateral subject to the lien, a court should apply the principal of subsection (g) and award priority in the proceeds to the holder of the perfected agricultural lien.

Comment 12, Idaho Code §28-9-322. (Emphasis added).

This comment clearly illustrates that the Legislature considered the conflicting Article 9

UCC filings against subsequently filed Agricultural Commodity Dealer's liens and reaffirmed that the statutory lien took priority.

It has long been recognized under Idaho law that lien statutes are to be liberally construed in favor of the protected class. *Baker v. Boren*, 129 Idaho 885, 895 (Ct. App. 1997), citing *Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. First Security Bank of Idaho*, 94 Idaho 489, 493 (1971). The

present case is illustrative of a remedial lien. The Legislature enacted Idaho Code §45-1802 for the sole purpose of protecting owners and dealers who sell their commodities and have no adequate remedy to insure their payment. As both Idaho Code §45-1805 and §28-9-322(g) illustrate, the Legislature clearly intended that later filed agricultural liens would take precedence over previously filed UCC-1F liens on the same collateral.

The hairsplitting engaged in by the Amicus Brief is unworthy of consideration. Again, the plain language of the statute clearly illustrates that a properly perfected Agricultural Commodity Dealer's lien can trump a prior perfected Article 9 lien. The statute cannot logically be interpreted in any other way.

To twist the statute to provide the outcome which the Appellant and Amicus propose, engages in the exact contortion which this Court has previously stated it would not do, even if the outcome resulted is a harsh result.

... public policy of legislative enactments cannot be construed by the courts and avoided simply because the courts might not agree with the public policy so announced.

State v. Village of Garden City, supra.

Therefore, this Court's duty is to "interpret the meaning of the legislative enactments without regard to possible results." *Id.* See also, *Stonebrook Construction, LLC v. Chase Home Finance, LLC*, 152 Idaho 927, 277 P. 3d 374 (2012).

In this case, the Appellant would have the Court believe that merely by making an alternative argument for the interpretation of Idaho Code §45-1802, that the statute is ambiguous. Such is not the case and this Court has clearly stated that merely making alternative arguments

does not make a statute ambiguous. State v. Yzaguirre, supra; Stonebrook Construction v. Chase Home Financing, supra; and Verska v. St. Alphonsus Regional Medical Center, supra.

F.

Extent of the Lien

Judge Bevan interpreted the statute's language and use of the words "proceeds" to include livestock. To conclude otherwise, makes an absurdity of the statutes which specifically references the consumption of the agricultural goods by livestock.

Appellant relies heavily on a federal bankruptcy decision from the District of Idaho, In re: Goedhart & Goedhart, 03.3 IBCR 167 (Bankr. D. Idaho 2003) for the proposition that the Agricultural Commodity Dealer's lien is subordinate to a senior Article 9 lien. State courts are not bound by federal courts' interpretation of state law.

Moreover, with all due respect to Judge Pappas, the *Goedhart* opinion never considered comment 12 to Idaho Code §28-9-322(g) which clearly provides for the lien statute to take priority over a prior filed Article 9 lien.

The question of proceeds can lead to only one logical outcome. Since feed is ingested by livestock, proceeds must include livestock.

CONCLUSION

Judge Bevan's interpretation of Idaho Code §45-1802 is well reasoned and supported by a review of the statute and the totality of other Idaho laws --- namely, Idaho's version of the Uniform Commercial Code. The Agricultural Commodity Dealer's lien was created specifically

to grant a super priority lien in agricultural products and their proceeds to prior perfected liens.

The Idaho Legislature has created priority liens in numerous cases including real estate, mining,

timber, garage and warehouseman's liens that take precedence over prior perfected liens in the

same collateral. Idaho Code §45-1805 makes clear that the priority afforded agricultural liens

trumps pre-existing liens on the same collateral. Moreover, if the statute were not plain enough,

comment 12 to Idaho Code §28-9-322(g) makes abundantly clear that a subsequently perfected

Agricultural Commodity lien takes priority over the typical rule that first in time takes

precedence.

For these reasons, Appellant's arguments should be overruled and judgment should be

entered in favor of Respondents reaffirming Judge Bevan's decision.